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THE MARIANITES IN LOUISIANA

It is not an easy task to gather information that covers a span of
150 plus years, much less to write the story of that epoch. Such a
story must hold the attention of the audience, and at the same time
impart interesting facts and data to add to the knowledge of a
group that for the last fifteen years has been inundated with
similar facts. As members of the Holy Cross History Conference we
have had such experiences and I trust that this paper will refresh
memories and possibly present something interesting and which
you’ve not heard before.

Holy Cross in no matter what part of the United States springs from
the same roots, has the same founders, the same goals and
objectives, and has had the same struggles in its century and a
half of existence. When preparing the 1999 Conference Brother
Walter and I decided that to worthily celebrate the anniversary of
our coming to New Orleans, we should solicit papers that reflect
the achievements of those years, papers that treat as effectively
as possible the attainment of goals and objectives, while
recognizing the efforts of the "Laborers in the Field". During
those fifteen decades our co-workers have tried to follow the
"signs of the times" as indicated by the Church, the Congregation
and the World, always, with Father Moreau’s striking
characteristic of trust in Divine Providence.

Five Brothers of Holy Cross and three Marianites arrived in the
Crescent City and took charge of Saint Mary’s Boys Asylum on May 1,
1849. Undoubtedly Father Sorin selected the most promising of his
meager personnel of Brothers to answer the call of Bishop Antoine
Blanc to care for the boys in St. Mary’s Orphan Asylum. The
Marianites joined them from Louisville, Kentucky where, two years
before, they had come to St. Mary’s College to render domestic
service. Father Sorin had accepted the college from the Jesuits in
1847 and sent Holy Cross Brothers and Father Saunier along with the
sisters. This arrangement lasted only one year when the priest and
brothers returned to Notre Dame and Father Sorin promised to recall
the sisters at the end of the second year. This recall was a
continuation of their southward journey which brought them to New
Orleans.

St. Mary’s Orphanage founded by Father Adam Kindelon, who died in
1835, was subsequently administered by a lay board for 14 years.
Either because of a lack of business acumen or of necessary
vigilance on the part of the administration, on arrival the Holy
Cross pioneers found a miserable institution. Miserable in more
than one way -- business matters were chaotic, the institution was



scarcely able to be called a home, material comforts were wanting,
food was more than scarce, in general, creature comforts, even the
most essential, were not to be had. The religious sisters and
brothers were unmindful of what would have made their own lives
more comfortable when they realized that the living conditions of
the boys were anything but home-like, much less desirable

Despite the fact that for various reasons amicable conditions did
not exist among the religious themselves, their spirit of self-
sacrifice sustained them in their struggles to make a home for the
orphans who were victims of the yellow fever and cholera epidemics.
The parents of these unfortunate children had been carried off by
these diseases which ravaged the city annually.

The Brothers of Holy Cross under the fatherly guidance of their
intrepid Brother Vincent, were prepared to care for the
intellectual formation of the boys, elementary though that
education was. The sisters took over the laundry, the house
cleaning and the barn yard duties. There was a brother cook who
with the assistance of Brother Vincent went out every morning to
beg left overs from the hotels and with an admirable ingenuity made
an almost palatable meal from his gleanings. The Brothers were
responsible for the supervision of the dormitories and the
assistant-cook, actually the scullery maid, was a sister.

One of the difficulties which arose among the religious was the
absence of a Holy Cross Priest in this Holy Cross Community, with
the result that the Community had to attend services at St. Louis
Cathedral. Given the distance from the Orphanage to the Cathedral,
from Mazant Street to Jackson Square, one wonders how they made the
trip, or how often they were able to assist at religious services.
The necessity of long walks to church proved to be a blessing in
disguise. One day while going to confession at the Cathedral,
Sister Mary of Calvary was stopped by a young mother and given a
substantial sum, some say $30 some say 50, for her orphans. This
act of charity added greatly to the morale of the community and
proved to be one of many such donations made by inhabitants of the
city once the wise administration of the Brothers and the motherly
care of the Marianites became known. Sister Mary of the Five
Wounds wrote to Father Sorin asking for additional help. Thus it
became evident that Holy Cross had not only been planted in the
south, but that it was beginning to enjoy a period of growth.

Seeing the need for ministering to young girls in the Third
District of New Orleans Sister Mary of Calvary solicited and
received from the Archbishop and from her religious superiors
permission to open an industrial school for young women who would
be trained in sewing, their principal work being that of making
coarse clothing for negro slaves. At the end of the six months
trial the books showed a meager profit of two dollars, enough, to
prove that the project could support itself and thus survive. The
Industrial School’s goal was to make the young women self
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supporting once they left the institution. Their moral and
intellectual formation went along with their professional training.

Agriculture being one of the chief occupations of the locality the
Brothers added farming to classroom teaching. Thus classroom
education by Holy Cross in New Orleans found its practical
application at St. Isadore farm for the boys and at Immaculate
Conception Industrial school for the girls.

The Act of Incorporation signed in 1857 was amended in 1860 under
Act 132 of the State of Louisiana designating the Congregation as
a literary, scientific and charitable organization. The Academy of
the Holy Angels, founded in response to a request from families in
the Third District, was the first institution to profit of this
act. The Academy, the first permanent foundation of the Marianites
in Louisiana will be treated at 1length in a subsequent
presentation. Here we move on to the expansion of the ministry of
education by the Marianites in other parts of south Louisiana.

Father Gilbert Raymond, former director of St. Mary’s College in
Baltimore and later Vicar General of the New Orleans Diocese, had
befriended and served the Holy Cross community in the absence of a
Holy Cross priest. His appreciation of the Marianites, as well as
their reputation (gained from the successful operation of the new
Academy of the Holy Angels in New Orleans) moved him to ask for
their services when he proposed to build a school in Opelousas,

a settlement located on Bayou Bellevue in St. Landry parish. The
existing building which was to be used as a boarding school was too
small and Father Raymond promised to make the necessary alterations
as far as resources permitted. Apparently he quickly made some
necessary changes because in September of 1856 five sisters were
assigned to the mission and a sixth joined them a month later. The
reputation of the sisters as educators soon spread, but the
chronicles relate and with no further explanation that "Crosses
and discouragements incidental to all movements undertaken for
God’s honor and glory were not wanting to the sisters who formed
the first faculty of the Immaculate Conception Academy". The
sisters were forced to leave their mission during the Ccivil War and
returned only in 1879 after an unsuccessful attempt of the
Ursulines of Ohio to conduct the Academy. According to a prospectus
of the reconstruction period ''the Academy, a boarding and day
school, offered a course of instruction extensive, solid, varied,
useful and practical, embracing English and French in all branches.
Parents were assured that through religious instruction the moral
character of the pupils was formed at the same time that their
health and well being received the maternal attention of the
Marianites.

Concurrent with the opening of the school in Opelousas the
Marianites answered the call of Reverend Father Charles Chambost to
undertake educational work in Plaquemine. The sisters lived in a
small rented house which also served as the school. The zealous
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